I.   INTRODUCTION

Appellant Wanda Riley-Hordyk was employed by the Bethel School

District ( District) for twenty-two years. She taught Spanish for many years,

became an assistant principal in 2002, and a full principal in 2004. She served

with distinction, but in 2009 a dispute arose between Ms. Riley-Hordyk and

the District over harassment by her supervisor. Ms. Riley-Hordyk and the

District were able to settle this dispute, and pursuant to the settlement, Ms.

Riley-Hordyk was transferred to the principal position at Bethel Online

Academy.

Ms. Riley-Hordyk was successful at the Academy, but her tenure was

cut short when Bethel School District terminated her employment because of

a " reduction in force" at the end of the 2011/ 2012 school year. When Ms.

Riley-Hordyk learned of her termination,  she asked for transfer to open

positions for which she was qualified, as provided by law and the Collective

Bargaining Agreement ( CBA). She was informed, however, that she could

not request a transfer, and had to apply for all open positions just like any

random applicant. The District even went as far as to hire a principal from

another state rather than transfer Petitioner into an open position.  No actual

reduction in force occurred:  Bethel School District began the 2012/ 2013

school year with the same number of principals as the previous year.

The hearing officer in this case upheld the District' s unlawful

decision. It was error for the hearing officer to find that Bethel School
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District' s termination of Ms. Riley-Hordyk was part of a reduction in force

and supported by sufficient cause.  It was error for the Hearing Officer to

find that the District' s failure to reassign Petitioner to an open position and

its subsequent termination of her was lawful. This Court should remedy

these errors and reverse the hearing officer' s decision.

II.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1.   It was error for the hearing officer to find that the District exercised good
faith judgment when it decided to close the Bethel Online Academy.

2.   It was error for the hearing officer to find that the District' s termination of
Ms.  Riley-Hordyk based on the closure of the BOA constitutes a
reduction of force.

3.   It was error for the hearing officer to find that there was a reduction in
force when there was none.

4.   It was error for the hearing officer to find that Peters v. South Kitsap
School District does not mandate that after terminating Riley-Hordyk as
Principal of BOA the District was required to transfer her to any open
Principal position.

5.  It was error for the hearing officer to find that it was not a violation of the
CBA for the District to fail to offer Ms. Riley-Hordyk open teaching
positions.

6.  It was error for the hearing officer to find that the termination of Riley-
Hordyk sought by the District in the Probable Cause letter dated May 9,
2012 was supported by sufficient cause.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1.   Was the District' s decision to close Bethel Online Academy made in bad
faith?

2.   Did the District' s termination of Ms.  Riley-Hordyk pursuant to the
closure of the Bethel Online Academy constitute a reduction in force
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when there was no actual change in the number of principals employed by
the District?

3.   Does Peters v. South Kitsap School District mandate the transfer of Ms.
Riley-Hordyk to an open principal position after the closure of the Bethel
Online Academy?

4.   Was it a violation of the Collective Bargaining Agreement for the District
to fail to offer Ms. Riley-Hordyk an open teaching position?

5.   Did the District lack sufficient cause to terminate Ms.. Riley-Hordyk' s
employment on May 9, 2012?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Wanda Riley-Hordyk was first employed by the Bethel

School District in 1990 as a Spanish teacher.  CP 129: 12- 13. She served as

Spanish teacher until 2002, when she elevated to the position of interim

assistant principal.  CP 130: 2- 6.  She continued in her role as assistant

principal until 2004. CP 130: 6- 8. In 2004, she applied for the position of

principal at Bethel High School. Id. She was hired and served with distinction

five and a half years.  Id.  In 2008,  Ms.  Riley-Hordyk was awarded an

acknowledgment from the Superintendent based on her handling of a bomb

threat. CP 130: 20- 22.  That same year, she received a recognition award for

her outstanding leadership during that bomb threat as well as her handling of

racial and gang tensions at the school. CP 130: 22- 124: 2.

In 2009, a dispute arose between Ms. Riley-Hordyk and the District

concerning an issue of harassment Ms.  Riley-Hordyk filed against a

supervisory administrator.  CP 139: 14-24.  Ms.  Riley-Hordyk subsequently
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accessed the court system and initiated a lawsuit against the District.   CP

71: 4- 7.  That lawsuit was eventually resolved to the satisfaction of both

parties.  CP 57: 20- 51: 7; 482- 86.

As part of the settlement of the lawsuit, Ms. Riley-Hordyk was placed

into the position of principal of the Bethel Online Academy ( BOA).  CP

10523. Her tenure in that position was short yet successful. Further, when she

went into the position as principal of BOA, she was specifically informed that

her position was to be classified as being a high school principal. CP 10523.

The superintendent has a duty to recommend principals that are candidates for

transfer of position according to state law to the school board for decision,

and has done so with other employees. CP 88: 12- 13; 110: 15- 111: 3; 10483.

However, on May 9, 2012, the Superintendent of the Bethel School

District issued a letter of non- renewal to Ms. Riley- Hordyk, explaining the

reasons for the decision as:

There is insufficient revenue to maintain the current level of

programs and services in the District. The Board of Directors

met and determined that certain programs needed to be

modified or eliminated.  One of the eliminated programs is the

Bethel Online Academy.  In reaching its decision, the Board
of Directors considered the overall financial situation of the

District, changes in the funding formula, student enrollment,
and the overall needs of the District. As a result of the Board' s

action, your position was eliminated.

CP 10373. All other staff members of the BOA were accommodated with a

job elsewhere in the District. CP 154: 17- 20. None of the retained individuals

appear to have instituted a prior lawsuit against the District.
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Despite the District' s assertions, there was no reduction in force of

principals.    At the time the letter was issued,  Ms.  Riley-Hordyk was

employed in the position of " principal."    In 2011- 2012,  there were 27

principals in the District. CP 32: 14- 15. The following year, after her position

was supposedly eliminated, there were still 27 principals.   CP 32: 21- 26: 1.

Because no reduction in force actually occurred, the District Superintendent

had a duty to recommend Ms. Riley-Hordyk for transfer. CP 10483.

The District contends that it reduced the number of assistant principal

positions, while leaving the number of principals totals the same. CP 103: 23-

97: 3. This is true; however, no assistant principal was displaced.  CP 104: 17-

21.  Three were hired as assistant principals in different schools, and three

were offered other administrative positions. Id.  At the same time the District

hired a candidate from out of state to fill a purportedly vacant principal

position. CP 87: 17- 23. Therefore, there were no necessary reductions by the

time Riley' s contract ended on July 1, 2012. Specifically, when Ms. Riley-

Hordyk' s contract ended on July 1, the District never reduced its staff of

principals;  it continued to maintain 27 principals in the district for the

following school year just as it did in the previous year despite its claimed

reduction in force." CP 98: 12- 15.

The Bethel School District knew with certainty that it would be

closing the BOA the following year by at least February of 2012. CP 62: 20-

22. The higher administrative staff of the District similarly had a keen sense
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that they would be closing the BOA by December 2011, even if the Board

had not officially voted on the matter.  CP 34: 6- 23.  By April,  2012 the

decision to eliminate the BOA had already occurred, as it was not budgeted.

CP 10458.  Harvey Erickson, the administrator in charge of budgets for the

District, testified that closure of the BOA was one of the likely options

available to the Board as early as December 2011, and perhaps even earlier.

CP 34: 6- 23.

On February 14, 2012, a public hearing on BOA concluded that it

should be closed. CP 75: 21- 69: 2. On February 28, 2012 the School Board met

and voted to accept the Administration' s recommendation to close BOA,

which allowed the matter to go on to the required public hearings in order to

formally close BOA. CP 10531. As of the 28th of February, at the latest,

District administrators needed to give consideration to Riley' s statutory

continuing contract rights for continued employment in the Bethel School

District in the 2012- 2013 school year. They did not do so. Todd Mitchell, the

District' s Human Resources Director, testified that Ms. Riley-Hordyk was not

considered for transfer to another position because the District had decided to

label her termination as a reduction in force. CP 110: 15- 104: 3.

Because this was inaccurate, on February 16, 2012, Ms. Riley-Hordyk

began to request transfers to open principal positions.   CP 10488.   Mr.

Mitchell discouraged Ms. Riley-Hordyk from actually applying for positions

under the premise that her termination was not finalized. CP 158: 18- 21. On
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March 1, 2012, Ms. Riley-Hordyk asked to be transferred into the open

Spanaway Lake Principal position.   CP 10492.   On March 26, 2012, Ms.

Riley-Hordyk requested a transfer to an open middle school principal position

at Frontier.  CP 10497.  On April 27, 2012, well after the vote on the closure

of the BOA, the District announced that it had hired Mark Barnes from

Colorado to fill an open principal position in the District, the same position

Ms. Riley-Hordyk had requested in March.  CP 87: 17- 23; 10504.

In every instance that Ms. Riley-Hordyk requested consideration for

transfer to a principal position for which she was imminently qualified,

however, the District denied the request because it incorrectly believed that

she had to apply to the positions " like anybody else," current employee or

not.  CP 59: 8- 15;  77: 23- 78: 1.  When Ms.  Riley-Hordyk did apply for a

principal position, however, the District scheduled the estimated three- hour

interview at the same time as her son' s graduation, and would not move it. CP

163: 18- 20; 162: 2- 11. She also applied for multiple administrator positions,

but was never interviewed. CP 183: 9- 184: 6.

The District' s actions in terminating Ms.   Riley-Hordyk' s

employment were not taken in good faith. Superintendent Siegel testified

regarding Ms. Riley-Hordyk' s continued employment with the District:

Q:  Was there any discussion between you and  [ Human

Resources Director]  Mitchell at any time officially or
unofficially that you did not want Ms. Riley to return to the
district if there was anything you could do to avoid it?
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A: I was not overly enthusiastic about that possibility. I was
open to it.

Q: You made this position known to Mr. Mitchell; is that
correct?

A: I believe I probably did.

CP 84: 9- 17. Mr. Mitchell further admitted that, in the absence of a reduction in

force designation, Ms. Riley-Hordyk would have been entitled to transfer to an

open teaching position for which she was qualified. CP 98: 19- 99: 19.

The hearing officer found sufficient cause to uphold Bethel School

District' s termination of Ms. Riley-Hordyk as part of a reduction in force,

despite the fact that there were no administrators displaced from the Bethel

School District after the 2012 school year other than Petitioner, the only

administrator to have previously filed a lawsuit against the District. CP 9.

Petitioner appealed to superior court,  which upheld the hearing officer' s

decision on all grounds. Petitioner now timely appeals to this Court.

V.  ARGUMENT

This appeal seeks to address the question of whether a school district

employee, in this case a principal, may be terminated pursuant to a reduction

of force when no actual reduction in force occurred.  It then discusses the law

and precedent requiring that a District offer open positions to a principal it

just terminated in these circumstances.  The hearing officer here erroneously

found that Ms. Riley-Hordyk' s termination was due to a reduction in force

despite the fact that the same number of principals were employed by the
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District before and after the alleged reduction occurred, and further found that

the District had no obligation to transfer Ms. Riley-Hordyk to open positions

within the District. This Court should reverse the hearing officer' s erroneous

decision.

A.  Standard of Review

A court reviewing the factual determinations of a hearing officer

considers whether those determinations are clearly erroneous.  Clarke v.

Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412, 106 Wn.2d 102, 109, 720 P. 2d 793 ( 1986).

When reviewing the application of the law to the facts, a reviewing court

makes a de novo determination of the applicable law, but gives deference to

the hearing officer' s factual determinations. Id.  When an appellate court

reviews the findings and conclusions of the hearing officer,  it owes no

deference to the superior court' s decision. See, e.g., Clarke,  106 Wn.2d at

110- 11. Courts recognize that when a mixed question of law and fact is

involved in a case, however, the review should be de novo. Sargent v. Selah

School Dist.  119, 23 Wn. App. 916, 599 P. 2d 25 ( 1979). In this case, the

question of whether the supposed reduction in force triggered Ms. Riley--

Hordyk' s transfer rights is a mixed question of law and fact that should be

reviewed de novo.
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B.  No reduction in force excused the District from transferring Ms.
Riley-Hordyk to an open position.

It was error for the hearing officer to find that the District' s

nonrenewal of Ms.  Riley-Hordyk' s employment contract was due to a

reduction in force rather than pretext to remove an employee that had

previously filed suit against the District. Certificated employees of a school

district typically work on a continuing contract.  Continuing contracts are a

form of tenure. Unless the certificated employee is terminated for sufficient

cause ( RCW 28A.405. 300), or non- renewed at the end of the contract year

RCW 28A.405. 210), then the Employer must issue a new contract for the

following year.

In this case the Superintendent of the Bethel School District issued a

letter of non- renewal to Ms.  Riley-Hordyk explaining the reasons for his

decision:

There is insufficient revenue to maintain the current level of

programs and services in the District. The Board of Directors

met and determined that certain programs needed to be

modified or eliminated. One of the eliminated programs is the

Bethel Online Academy.  In reaching its decision, the Board
of Directors considered the overall financial situation of the

District, changes in the funding formula, student enrollment,
and the overall needs of the District. As a result of the Board' s

action, your position was eliminated.

At the time the letter was issued, Ms. Riley- Hordyk was employed in

the position of " principal."   In 2011- 2012, there were 27 principals in the

District.  The following year, after her " position" was supposedly eliminated,
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there were 27 principals in the District.  There was no actual reduction in

force, merely a reorganization.

RCW 28A.405. 210 is the non- renewal statute relied upon by the

District.  It states in relevant part:

That any employee receiving notice of nonrenewal of contract
due to an enrollment decline or loss of revenue may, in his or
her request for a hearing,  stipulate that initiation of the

arrangements for a hearing officer as provided for by RCW
28A.405. 310( 4) shall occur within ten days following July 15
rather than the day that the employee submits the request for a
hearing.

RCW 28A.405. 210 ( emphasis added).   It is important to note that District

administrators could not have known whether there would be an enrollment

decline by May when the non- renewal letter was issued because this can only

be determined when the next ensuing school year begins and the students then

enroll and attend school in the district. CP 18: 15- 18.

In this case, the District argued that the non- renewal of Ms. Riley-

Hordyk was " due to loss of revenue."  Yet, loss of revenue did not cause the

District to reduce the number of principals.  It is thus unreasonable to believe

that loss of revenue caused it to non- renew Petitioner.-Even if the District had

less revenue than it had the prior year, that loss of revenue did not cause it to

reduce the number of principals it employed beyond the 27 that existed the

prior year.   There were multiple open principal positions into which the

District could have transferred Ms. Riley- Hordyk. It did not do so.
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The District argued at the hearing that the number of assistant

principal positions was reduced,  while leaving the principal totals static.

While true,  no assistant principal was displaced.     All were offered

administrative positions in the District.  The District hired a candidate from

out of state to fill a purportedly vacant position, while at the same time

refusing to allow Ms.  Riley-Hordyk to transfer into a variety of open

positions for which she was qualified.  Therefore, there were no necessary

reductions by the time Riley' s contract ended on July 1, 2012. It was error for

the hearing officer to find that the District' s reason for terminating Ms. Riley-

Hordyk was based on a reduction in force rather than pretext to get rid of an

employee it considered troublesome.

C.  The District was required to offer open positions to Ms. Riley-
Hordyk.

Even assuming the District did reduce the number of principals due to

a loss of revenue, pursuant to the Continuing Contract Law and the holding of

Peters v. South Kitsap School District No. 402, 8 Wn. App. 809, 509 P. 2d 67

1973), it was required to offer the job to internal candidates before opening

the positions to the general public. As stated by the Peters court:

We turn now to the central question with which we are

concerned. Once a contract is properly nonrenewed because
of a financial reduction in personnel, what duty does the
district owe to the nonrenewed employee with respect to

vacancies which might occur prior to the expiration of his

existing contract . . . .?

12



The continuing contract statute has as one of its central
purposes the elimination of uncertainty in the employment
plans of both the teacher and the district. [ Case cited.]

Even though the financial requirements of the district may
require reduction in staff,  individual teachers who have

been properly nonrenewed solely for that reason do not lose
their statutory right to reemployment until their contract is
actually terminated. Thus, the district may not approach the
task of selecting personnel to fill vacancies that occur after
some teachers have been nonrenewed without first giving
effect to the continuing contract rights of those nonrenewed
teachers. . . ."

When the school board turns to this task [ determining
the educational needs,  curricula and resources for the

ensuing school year], it must continue the contracts of those

teachers who have qualifications that satisfy its needs.
Thus,  even though a teacher is properly notified and
nonrenewed on the grounds of financial necessity, a change
in the needs of the district before actual termination of the

teacher' s contract compels a reconsideration of the

nonrenewal."

Peters, 8 Wn. App. at 815- 6. [ Emphasis added.]

This principal was later confirmed by the Washington State Supreme

Court, which held:

In Peters,  the Court of Appeals,  Division Two,  said that

where a teacher is nonrenewed for financial reasons, he must

be offered any job for which he is qualified, which becomes
available before ` termination of his contract.'

Johnson v. Central Valley School Dist. No. 356, 97 Wn.2d 419, 434, 645 P. 2d

1088 ( 1982) ( citing Peters, 8 Wn. App. 809).  Peters imposes an affirmative

duty on the District to " offer" open positions to Ms. Riley-Hordyk, and then

transfer her to one of the open positions.  To read the opinion otherwise gives
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the provision no force:  the District could simply state that it considered

nom-enewed employees for a job, and then chose in each instance to offer the

job to someone else. It was error for the Hearing Officer to adopt such an

argument.

Except for the formality of completing the requisite public hearings,

the Bethel School District knew with certainty that it would be closing the

BOA the following year by at least February 28, 2012.  The District' s senior

administrators similarly had a keen sense that it would be closing the BOA in

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