CITITO TO MINES OF THE CONTROL OF TH

No.45830-6-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

WANDA RILEY-HORDYK,

Appellant,

v.

BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Vandeberg Johnson & Gandara, LLP

William A. Coats, WSBA #4608 Daniel C. Montopoli, WSBA #26217 Attorneys for Respondent Bethel School District

1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 1900 P. O. Box 1315 Tacoma, WA 98401-1315 Telephone: (253) 383-3791

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of review

The standard of review of the hearing officer's decision is governed by RCW 28A.405.340. Under this standard, the factual determinations of a hearing officer will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *Griffith v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 165 Wn. App. 663, 670-71,

266 P.3d 932 (2011), *rev. denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1004 (2012). A finding is "clearly erroneous" when "the reviewing court on the entire record is left with the firm and definite conviction that a mistake has been committed." *Dep't of Ecology v. PUD 1*, 121 Wn.2d 179, 201, 849 P.2d 646 (1993).

While a hearing officer's factual determinations are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard, a reviewing court makes a de novo determination of the applicable law. *Griffith* at 670-71. Whether sufficient cause exists to nonrenew a certificated employee's contract is a legal conclusion and "should not be disturbed unless it constitutes an error of law." *Griffith* at 671. The Supreme Court has summarized this standard:

[T]he Superior Court was bound to affirm the factual findings of the hearing officer, unless they were clearly erroneous, but was free to determine the correct law independent of the hearing officer's decision and apply it to the facts as found by the hearing officer.

Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412, 106 Wn. 2d 102, 110, 720 P.2d 793 (1986). An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the superior court. Clarke, 106 Wn.2d at 110.

## B. The hearing officer correctly held that sufficient cause existed to nonrenew Ms. Riley-Hordyk's contract.

The hearing officer found that the District acted in good faith when it decided to close the BOA, noting that the decision was made after a public hearing and School Board consideration and that the decision was based upon the recommendation of district employees and their financial committees. CP 17 at ¶ 4.4. The hearing officer noted that the decision to

close the BOA was based upon a projected operating loss of \$330,000 for the BOA for the 2012-13 school year and declining revenues overall for the District. CP 15.

The hearing officer also found that the elimination of Ms. Riley-Hordyk's position was a reduction in force even though the District ended up with the same number of principals. CP 17 at ¶ 4.4. As the hearing officer stated, the District "ended up with the with the same number of Principals after the BOA closure simply because 2012-13 included a previously planned reopening of another school." CP 17 at ¶ 4.4. For these reasons, the hearing officer concluded that under the CBA and state law, the District was not required to transfer her to another principal position. CP 17-18.

The Superior Court, after a thorough review of the record and the case law, concluded that the hearing officer's decision was not clearly erroneous or arbitrary and capricious, and that sufficient cause existed to non-renew Ms. Riley-Hordyk. CP 638. In her written decision, Judge Martin examined each assignment of error asserted by Ms. Riley-Hordyk—errors almost identical to the assignments of error in this appeal—before affirming the decision of the hearing officer "in its entirety." CP 603.

This Court should also give deference to the factual determinations of the hearing officer, reviewing them under the clearly erroneous standard. These facts must then be applied to the law governing sufficient cause; only if the hearing officer's conclusions of law constitute an error

of law should they be set aside. To understand why the hearing officer correctly held that sufficient cause existed to nonrenew Ms. Riley-Hordyk's contract requires a discussion of Washington law governing the nonrenewal of certificated employees.

# C. Washington's "continuing contract" law and the "nonrenewal" of certificated employees.

In Washington, the employment of teachers, principals, and other certificated employees is governed by statute, Chapter 28A RCW. Under RCW 28A.405.210, known as the "continuing contract" statute, certificated employees are employed for one-year terms which are usually renewed each year. RCW 28A.405.210.

The statute, however, permits school districts to prevent the renewal of employee contracts for cause. RCW 28A.405.210. Such nonrenewal of a contract typically occurs when performance deficiencies, declining enrollment or economic difficulties lead a school district to conclude that the retention of the employee's services would be inappropriate. *See, e.g., Barnes v. Seattle School District*, 88 Wn.2d 483, 487, 563 P.2d 199 (1977); *Robel v. Highline School District*, 65 Wn.2d 477, 485, 398 P.2d 1 (1965); RCW 28A.405.210.

Under RCW 28A.405.210, a notice of nonrenewal must be served upon the employee by May 15<sup>th</sup> (or in some cases by June 15<sup>th</sup>) and specify the nonenewal causes. Employees whose contracts are not renewed have the right to a hearing if they request one within 10 days.

Here, the District timely notified Ms. Riley-Hordyk of her nonrenewal and she timely requested a hearing.

D. The decision to not renew an employee's contract may only be reversed if the district acted illegally, with bad faith, or in an arbitrary and capricious manner.

As a leading treatise on labor arbitration notes, employers have the right to determine the size of its workforce:

In the absence of contractual restriction, it is the right of management to determine the number of employees to be used at any given time and to lay off employees in excess of that number, giving the required recognition to seniority.

Elkouri & Elkouri, *How Arbitration Works* § 13.19.A at 781 (6th ed. 2003) (footnote omitted).

Indeed, a school district's right to nonrenew a certificated employee may be set aside only if the district acted illegally, with bad faith, or in an arbitrary and capricious manner. *See Diedrick v. School Dist. 81*, 87 Wn.2d 598, 607, 555 P.2d 825 (1976); *Refai v. Central Washington University*, 49 Wn. App. 1, 8, 742 P.2d 137 (1987). As the Washington Supreme Court has held:

[A] district properly may reduce salaries and require the same job to be performed, or it may abolish and consolidate employment positions and impose the duties on other employees where done in good faith and in a manner consistent with the district's economic exigencies or other requirements.

Diedrick, 87 Wn. 2d at 605. Because the school district did not act arbitrarily or capriciously, the *Diedrick* court upheld the district's

personnel decisions, which included the nonrenewal of teachers and administrators. *Id.* at 609.

As *Diedrick* illustrates, a reviewing court should hesitate before interfering with the decision to lay off workers:

We note further that courts should exercise caution when reviewing [a reduction in force] decision.

[W]here lack of funds necessitate[s] releasing a sizeable number of the faculty, certainly it [is] peculiarly within the province of the school administration to determine which teachers should be released, and which retained.

Where there is a showing that the administrative body, in exercising its judgment, acts from honest convictions, based upon facts which it believes are for the best interest of the school, and there is no showing that the acts were arbitrary or generated by ill will, fraud, collusion or other such motives, it is not the province of a court to interfere and substitute its judgment for that of the administrative body.

Refai, 49 Wn. App. at 7-8 (quoting Klein v. Board of Higher Educ., 434 F. Supp. 1113, 1118 (S.D.N.Y. 1977)).

Similarly, an employee disagreeing with the judgment exercised by an employer does not mean that the employer acted arbitrarily and capriciously. *See, e.g., City of Federal Way v. Pub. Employment Relations Comm'n*, 93 Wn. App. 509, 514, 970 P.2d 752 (1998) ("When room for two opinions exists, an action is not arbitrary and capricious even though one believes the conclusion is erroneous.")

Rather, an employer's action is "arbitrary and capricious" if it is willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the surrounding facts

and circumstances. Cox v. Lynnwood, 72 Wn. App. 1, 6, 863 P.2d 578 (1993) (citing Washington Waste Sys, Inc. v. Clark Cy., 115 Wn.2d 74, 81, 794 P.2d 508 (1990)). Evaluating whether an agency's decision was arbitrary and capricious involves evaluating the evidence considered by the agency in making its decision. Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 98 Wn.2d 690, 695, 658 P.2d 648 (1983). In addition, "[w]here there is room for two opinions, action is not arbitrary or capricious when exercised honestly and upon due consideration." Landmark Development, Incorporated v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 573, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999) (quoting DuPont-Fort Lewis Sch. Dist. No. 7 v. Bruno, 79 Wn.2d 736, 739, 489 P.2d 171 (1971)). Furthermore, the burden of demonstrating the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting invalidity. Apostolis v. Seattle, 101 Wn. App. 300, 304, 3 P.3d 198 (2000).

Here, the financial need to reduce expenditures for the 2012-13 school year was well established. The District estimated that the Bethel Online Academy would have an operating loss in excess of \$330,000 during the 2012-13 school year. Given such a dire economic forecast, the School Board closed the Bethel Online Academy beginning with the 2012-13 school year. This closure naturally precipitated the elimination of Ms. Riley-Hordyk's position.

# E. In the absence of a statute or a contract granting the right to transfer, an employee has no right to transfer to another position.

Except as otherwise may be provided by statute or in a collective bargaining agreement, the employment relationship with a school district is governed by principles of general contract law. See Corcoran v. Lyle Sch. Dist. No. 406, 20 Wn. App. 621, 623, 581 P.2d 185, 187 (1978) ("Beyond the statutory rights contained in the continuing contract law, the relationship between the school district and its employees is a contractual one governed by general principles of law.") Because the teacher in Corcoran failed to comply with the statutory requirements for signing his employment contract, the court held that the teacher had no due process rights to continued employment. Id. at 623-25.

Indeed, any due process right that a certificated employee has to continuing employment must derive from a property interest created by state law. As the Ninth Circuit has held: "To state a claim under the Due Process Clause, a plaintiff must first establish that he possessed a "property interest" that is deserving of constitutional protection." *Brewster v. Bd. of Educ. of Lynwood Unified Sch. Dist.*, 149 F.3d 971, 982 (9th Cir. 1998) (citing *Gilbert v. Homar*, 520 U.S. 924, 117 S. Ct. 1807, 1811, 138 L.Ed.2d 120 (1997)). To possess a property interest in a benefit such as the automatic right to transfer, "an individual must have more than 'an abstract need or desire for it' or 'a unilateral expectation of it." *Brewster*, 149 F.3d at 982 (quoting *Board of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 577, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972)).

Rather, as the Supreme Court has explained, these due process property interests must derive from state law:

Property interests ... are not created by the Constitution. Rather they are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law-rules or understandings that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits.

*Roth*, 408 U.S. at 577. Thus, it is Washington law that governs a public employee's due process claim and determines whether that employee has a due process right to transfer.

Here, there is no statute, collective bargaining agreement, or contract entitling Ms. Riley-Hordyk to transfer to another principal position.

The collective bargaining agreement, for example, only provides for a transfer in the absence of a reduction in force. The District's notice to Ms. Riley-Hordyk stated specifically that she had no right to transfer to another position. At the hearing, the District established that there is no policy or practice of allowing administrators who have lost their position through a reduction in force to transfer. Indeed, there were six other administrators, besides Ms. Riley-Hordyk, whose contracts were not renewed at the end of the 2011-12 school year. These six administrators were treated the same as Ms. Riley-Hordyk: they were invited to apply for new positions but were not automatically transferred. CP 112:4-25.

In the absence of any statutory or contractual right to transfer, Ms. Riley-Hordyk has no right to transfer.

F. Appellant's brief fails to refer to the record and ignores the appropriate legal standard while primarily relying upon a case that is not relevant.

#### 1. Appellant's brief fails to cite to the record.

The Rules of Appellate Procedure require that the Appellant's statement of the case contain references to the record for each factual statement. RAP 10.3(a)(5). While there are *references* in Appellant's statement of the case, these references are *not* to the record.

For example, page 4 of Ms. Riley-Hordyk's brief contains references to CP 10523, 10483 and 10373. These citations cannot refer to the Clerk's Papers. do not exist because the Clerk's Papers end at page 648. Other references to the record are equally nonsensical: page 3 of Appellant's brief cites to CP 130:22-124:2; page 4 cites to CP 57:20-51:7; page 5 cites to CP 103:23-97:3.

Even when the Appellant cites to a Clerk's Paper that does exist, the reference does not support the factual statement. For example, the first sentence in Appellant's statement of the case states: "Petitioner Wanda Riley-Hordyk was first employed by the Bethel School District in 1990 as a Spanish teacher. CP 129:12-13." App. Br. at 3. Clerk's Paper 129 has nothing to do with the District's hiring of Ms. Riley-Hordyk, or her history as a Spanish teacher.

Indeed, in the first three pages of Appellant's statement of the case, Counsel for the Respondent did not find a single reference to the record that was accurate. (Respondent's Counsel ceased checking the citations after the first three pages proved fruitless.)

# 2. This Court should affirm the factual findings of the hearing officer because these findings are not "clearly erroneous."

Appellant fails to apply the appropriate standard for reviewing the decision of a hearing officer. Instead, Appellant argues that the hearing officer erred when she found: that the District was justified in closing the BOA, that the elimination of the BOA's principal position constituted a reduction in force, and that the CBA did not require the District to transfer Ms. Riley-Hordyk to another position. App. Br. at 1-2, 8-9.

But the standard for reviewing a hearing officer's factual determinations is not whether the hearing officer erred; rather the standard is whether the findings are "clearly erroneous." *Griffith*, 165 Wn. App. at 670-71. Under this standing, a reviewing court must be left with a "firm and definite conviction that a mistake has been committed" before setting aside the factual findings of the hearing officer. *Department of Ecology v. PUD 1*, 121 Wn.2d at 201.

Here, the evidence established that the District faced decreased revenue and declining enrollment, that the BOA was expected to lose \$330,000 in the 2012-13 school year and that the District held public hearings to discuss which schools and programs should be eliminated. For these reasons, the hearing officer did not err when she found that the decision to close the BOA was made in good faith. Moreover, the District established that the elimination of the BOA's principal position constituted a reduction in force and that the CBA did not require the

District to transfer Ms. Riley-Hordyk. Because these findings were not clearly erroneous, this Court should affirm the findings.

· 🔻

In addition, as discussed above, no statute, collective bargaining agreement, or contract entitled Ms. Riley-Hordyk to transfer to another principal position. Because the District did not act illegally, arbitrarily or capriciously when it refused to transfer her, the hearing officer correctly held that the District had sufficient cause to not renew her contract.

Ms. Riley-Hordyk, however, primarily relies upon a relatively obscure case from 1973, *Peters v. South Kitsap School District*, to argue that the District was required to transfer Ms. Riley-Hordyk. App. Br. at 12-20. According to Ms. Riley-Hordyk, "*Peters* imposes an affirmative duty on the District to 'offer' open positions to Ms. Riley-Hordyk, and then transfer her to one of the open positions." Ap. Br. at 13. As discussed in the following section, Ms. Riley-Hordyk's reliance upon *Peters* is misplaced.

#### 3. *Peters* is not relevant to this case.

Like the hearing officer and the superior court, this Court should conclude that *Peters* has little bearing upon this case. There are three reasons why *Peters* is not relevant.

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